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APPENDIX 4E 

Audited Financial Report to the Australian Securities Exchange 
Name of Entity Carnegie Wave Energy Limited 

ABN 69 009 237 736 

Financial Year Ended 30 June 2015 

Previous Corresponding Reporting Period 30 June 2014 

 

Results for Announcement to the Market 
 $ Percentage increase 

/ (decrease) over 
previous 

corresponding 
period 

Revenue from Ordinary activities 1,716,516 (10.29%) 

Profit / (loss) from ordinary activities after tax 
attributable to members 

(4,784,050) 14.54% 

Net profit / (loss) for the period attributable to 
members 

(4,784,050) 14.54% 

Dividends (distributions) Amount per security Franked amount per security 

Final Dividend nil n/a 

Interim Dividend nil n/a 

Record date for determining entitlements to 
the dividends (if any) 

n/a 

Brief explanation of any of the figures reported above necessary to enable the figures to be 
understood: 
 
The directors do not intend to declare a dividend as no profit was made during the year ended 30th 
June 2015. No dividends were paid during the financial year. 
 

 

Dividends 
Date the dividend is payable n/a 

Record date to determine entitlement to the 
dividend 

n/a 

Amount per security n/a 

Total Dividend Nil 

Amount per security of foreign sourced 
dividend or distribution 

n/a 

Details of any dividend reinvestment plans in 
operation 

None 

The last date for receipt of an election notice 
for participation in any dividend reinvestment 
plans 

n/a 
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Net Tangible Asset Backing 
 Current Period Previous Corresponding 

Period 

Net tangible asset backing per ordinary 
security (cents per share) 

 
0.12 cents 

 
0.46 cents 

 

Other Significant Information Needed by an Investor to Make an Informed 

Assessment of the Entity’s Financial Performance and Financial Position 
 
The NTA backing has changed mainly due to the expenditure during the year on the Perth Wave 
Energy Project (PWEP) and the CETO 6 Project and the associated corporate expenses and 
overheads. 

 

Commentary on the Results for the Period 
The earnings per security and the nature of any dilution aspects: 
 

During this financial year, the Company maintained its focus on the development and 

commercialisation of the CETO wave energy technology, primarily via the construction, 

commissioning and operation of the Perth Wave Energy Project (PWEP) on Garden Island, Western 

Australia. During the financial year the PWEP was connected for the first time to the electricity grid 

on Garden Island, making it the worlds’ only currently operating grid-connected wave energy array. 

The continued operation of the Perth Wave Energy Project has allowed the Company to take great 

steps forward towards commercialising its proprietary CETO technology. 

 

The Company continued design and site investigation work for the CETO 6 Project which is the next 

stage in the CETO development and commercialisation. The Project comprises the design, 

construction, deployment and demonstration of CETO 6 units in a grid-connected wave energy 

project at Garden Island, Western Australia. 

 

The loss for the 12 months to 30 June 2015 has increased to $4,784,050 from the prior period loss of 

$4,176,921. This is due to the non-cash accounting expense treatment for the non-cash finance costs 

associated with the unlisted convertible notes and the $20m loan facility with the Clean Energy Finance 

Corporation. 

 

The Company maintains a strong financial position at 30 June 2015 with approximately $4.7 million 

in cash reserves, $14 million of undrawn government grants and $20 million in an undrawn loan 

facility. The Company views the year’s results as being successful and considers this an ongoing 

positive affirmation of the CETO technology and its development and commercialisation.  

 

Returns to shareholders including distributions and buy backs: 
 
n/a 
 

Significant features of operating performance: 
 
n/a 
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The results of segments that are significant to an understanding of the business as a whole: 
 
n/a 
 

Discussion of trends in performance: 
 
n/a 
 

Any other factor which has affected the results in the period or which are likely to affect results in 
the future, including those where the effect could not be quantified: 
 
n/a 
 

 

Entities sold during the last financial year 
Name of Entity Date Control Lost Details 

n/a n/a n/a 

 

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
Name % Holding Contribution to Profits / (Loss) 

 2015 2014 

n/a  n/a  - - 

Associates report according to AIFRS. 

 

Audit/Review Status 
This report is based on accounts to which one of the following applies: (Mark with “YES” or 
“NO”) 

The accounts have been audited YES The accounts have been subject to 
review 

NO 

The accounts are in the process of being 
audited or subject to review 

NO The accounts have not yet been 
audited or reviewed 

NO 

 
This report is based on audited financial accounts for the year ended 30 June 2014. There are no 
5disputes or qualification to the financial accounts that the Board is aware of. 

If the accounts have not yet been audited or subject to review and are likely to be subject to 
dispute or qualification, a description of the likely dispute or qualification: 
 
N/A 
 

If the accounts have been audited or subject to review and are subject to dispute or 
qualification, a description of the dispute or qualification: 
 
N/A 
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Attachments forming part of Appendix 4E 

Attachment 
# 

Details 

1 Audited Accounts for Carnegie Wave Energy for the year ended 30th June 2015 

 
 

Print name:  Dr Michael Ottaviano 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

Date:      28 August 2015 
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CARNEGIE WAVE ENERGY LIMITED 

ABN 69 009 237 736 

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

DIRECTORS' REPORT 

30 JUNE 2015 

 
The Directors present their report on Carnegie Wave Energy Limited ("the Company", or “Carnegie”) and its 
controlled entities, ("the Consolidated Group") for the financial year ended 30 June 2015. 
 
DIRECTORS 
 
The Directors of the Company in office at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 
 
Jeffrey Harding B.Eng, B.Com, MBA, FAICD (Chairman) 
 
Mr Harding has extensive experience in the renewable energy sector. From 1995 to 2005 Mr Harding was 
Managing Director of Pacific Hydro Limited, Australia's largest renewable energy developer with wind and hydro 
energy projects in Australia, Asia and Chile. During his tenure, Mr Harding oversaw the international expansion 
of the business with growth in market capitalisation from AU$5 million to over AU$750 million and an increase in 
profit after tax each year from 1996 to 2005, when Pacific Hydro was sold to IFM Renewable Energy. 
 
Mr Harding has degrees in Civil Engineering, Economics, and a Masters Degree in Business Administration and 
is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. He resides in both Europe and Australia. 
 
Mr Harding was also Chairman of Ceramic Fuel Cells Ltd (AIM:CFU), was formerly General Manager of Brambles 
Industrial Services and Vice President of the Australian Business Council for Sustainable Development. Mr 
Harding regularly presents on issues associated with climate change and renewable energy and was the 2014 
Halsey Visiting Professor at the University of Virginia. 
 
Mr Harding was appointed to the board in 2009 and was appointed as Chairman on the 11th May 2015.  
 
 
Dr Michael Edward Ottaviano B.Eng, MSc, DBA, MAICD, M.I.EngAus (Chief Executive Officer and Managing 
Director) 
 
Dr Ottaviano joined Carnegie in January 2006 and was made Managing Director in March 2007. Dr Ottaviano 
oversaw the acquisition of the CETO wave power intellectual property and focusing of the company’s efforts onto 
its commercialisation. During his time as Managing Director, Dr Ottaviano has led the development of CETO Wave 
Energy technology from Proof of Concept, Pilot Plant and Commercial Demonstration stages and has been 
responsible for raising $130m in equity, grants and debt. 
 
Dr Ottaviano has previously worked in research and development and consulted in technology and innovation 
management.  He has advised companies on new product development, intellectual property and technology 
commercialisation across various industries and ranging from start-ups to large multi-nationals. He is also a former 
Board Member of the Clean Energy Council, Australia’s clean energy peak industry group, and a member of the 
Australian Government’s Energy White Paper Consultative Committee.  
 
Dr Ottaviano has a Bachelor of Engineering, a Masters of Science and a Doctorate in Business Administration. 
 
Kieran O’Brien B.Eng, MBA, MEngSc, FIEI, FIEE (Executive Director) 
 
Mr O'Brien is a former Managing Director of ESB (Ireland’s Electricity Supply Board) National Grid and served as a 
member of the Executive Management Group of ESB for more than 15 years.  He has been responsible for long 
term strategic planning in ESB and for relations with the Irish Government and European Union in the fuel and utility 
sector.  Mr O’Brien was Acting Secretary General of the World Energy Council (WEC) from 2008-2009 and served 
two three year terms as a member of the Officer’s Council of the WEC. His international power industry experience 
extends to Asia, Africa, the Middle East, Eastern Europe and North America. 
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Michael Fitzpatrick B.Eng (Hons), B.A (Hons), (Non-Executive Director) 
 
Mr Fitzpatrick has over 34 years in the financial services sector. After a career in investment banking in Australia 
and New York with Merrill Lynch and CS First Boston, Mr Fitzpatrick founded Hastings Funds Management Ltd 
(‘Hastings’) in 1994. Hastings was the pioneering infrastructure asset management company where he was 
Managing Director until he sold his interest in 2005 to Westpac Banking Corporation. Hastings was then one of the 
largest managers of infrastructure and alternative assets in Australia, managing investments of approximately A$3.8 
billion. Mr Fitzpatrick was a Director of a number of Hastings’ managed investments, including Pacific Hydro Limited, 
Global Renewables Limited, Utilities of Australia and Australian Infrastructure Fund.  
 
Mr Fitzpatrick is currently Chairman of the Infrastructure Capital Group, a boutique manager of $1.4 billion of energy 
and infrastructure assets, Chairman of Treasury Group Limited and also Chairman of the Australian Football 
League. He also holds a number of other non-executive directorships, and was a former director of Rio Tinto Limited 
and Rio Tinto plc. Mr Fitzpatrick holds a B.Eng. (Hons) degree in Electrical Engineering from the University of 
Western Australia and in B.A. (Honours) from Oxford University in 1975, where he was a Rhodes Scholar. 
 
 
John Leggate CBE, FREng (Non-executive Director) 
 
Mr Leggate is a highly experienced oil and gas and venture capital industry executive. He worked for over twenty 
seven years for BP. His key leadership roles were as President of the Azerbaijan International Oil Co, BP’s Group 
Chief Information Officer and Group Vice President of BP’s Global Supply Chain. 
  
At BP Mr Leggate was closely involved in the development of corporate policy on technology foresight, and 
corporate venturing during the dotcom era. He has spent 20 years in the exploration and production business; 
running various projects, construction, commissioning and production operations with a focus on the North Sea 
and the Caspian Region. Mr Leggate's early career was spent in marine consultancy at Yarrows Admiralty 
Research in Glasgow and after that he was engaged in the design and construction of coal, oil and nuclear power 
stations with South of Scotland Electricity Board (now Scottish Power). 
  
In 2012 John began working with Quintal Partners a Hong Kong based advisory firm specialising in global 
technology arbritage across the energy, cleantech and transportation sectors. Quintal Partners offers strategic 
advisory, financing and business development services.   John has served as a Director on the Main Board and 
Audit Committee of London AIM listed Parkmead Group and Ogin (previously FloDesign Wind Turbines), a 
venture backed Boston based wind turbine company. He has also served on the UK DTI Far Eastern Trade 
Advisory Board for four years and was advisor to the US House Science Committee on the potential threat from 
cyber security on critical national infrastructure and global trade. 
  
Mr Leggate was awarded the CBE in recognition of his outstanding contribution and leadership to the international 
digital technology agenda. John is a graduate of Glasgow University and is a Fellow of the Institute of Electrical 
Engineering and Fellow of the Royal Academy of Engineering. 
 
 
Grant Jonathan Mooney B.Bus, CA (Non-executive Director and Company Secretary) 
 
Mr Mooney is the principal of Perth-based corporate advisory firm Mooney & Partners, specialising in corporate 
compliance administration to public companies. Mr Mooney has gained extensive experience in the areas of 
corporate and project management since commencing Mooney & Partners in 1999. His experience extends to 
advice on capital raisings, mergers and acquisitions and corporate governance. Currently, Mr Mooney serves as 
a Director to several ASX listed companies across a variety of industries including technology and resources. He 
is a Director of Phosphate Australia Limited, appointed 14 October 2008, Barra Resources Limited, appointed 29 
November 2002, Wild Acre Metals Limited, appointed 1 May 2007, Carbine Resources Limited, appointed 16 
January 2012 and Talga Resources Limited, appointed 20 February 2014. He was a Director of Attila Resources 
Limited from 15 March 2010 to 12 October 2012. Mr Mooney is a member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia. 
 
Mr Mooney resigned as Chairman on the 11th May 2015.  
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During the year and at the date of this report, the direct and indirect interests of the Directors in the shares and 
options of the Company were: 
 

 Ordinary Shares Options 

Michael Fitzpatrick * 125,365,359 5,000,000 

Dr Michael Edward Ottaviano ** 39,790,000 - 

Grant Jonathan Mooney *** 2,553,651 15,000,000 

Jeffrey Harding **** 958,750 5,000,000 

Kieran O’Brien 170,000 10,000,000 

John Leggate  100,000 5,000,000 

 
 

*  Mr M Fitzpatrick is a Director of Log Creek Pty Ltd and therefore is deemed to have an interest in 125,365,359 
ordinary shares and 5,000,000 options held by Log Creek Pty Ltd and 88 Green Ventures. 

**  Dr M E Ottaviano is deemed to have an interest in 390,000 ordinary shares held by his spouse, Amanda 
Ottaviano. Dr Ottaviano also has an interest in 4,400,000 ordinary shares as trustee for the “Wanderlust 
Trust”. 

*** Mr G J Mooney is a Director of Mooney & Partners Pty Ltd and therefore is deemed to have an interest in 
2,553,651 ordinary shares held by Mooney & Partners Pty Ltd. 

**** Mr J Harding is deemed to have an interest in 958,750 ordinary shares as trustee for the “The Harding Super 
Fund Account”. 

 
 
 
 

 
COMPANY SECRETARY 
 
The following people held the position of company secretary at the end of the financial year: 
 
Mr Grant Jonathan Mooney and Mr Aidan John Flynn 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 
The principal activity of the Company is in the development and commercialisation of the CETO wave energy 
technology. 
 

OPERATING RESULTS 
 
The consolidated loss of the Consolidated Group for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 amounted to 
$4,784,050 (2014: consolidated loss $4,176,921). 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the financial year ended 30 June 2015. No dividends 
were paid during the financial year. 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
 
During this financial year, the Consolidated Group maintained its focus on the development and 
commercialisation of the CETO wave energy technology, primarily via the construction, commissioning and 
operation of the Perth Wave Energy Project (PWEP) on Garden Island, Western Australia. During the financial 
year the PWEP was connected for the first time to the electricity grid on Garden Island, making it the world’s only 
currently operating grid-connected wave energy array. At the date of this report, the Perth Wave Energy Project 
has been operating for over 12,500 cumulative hours across three CETO 5 units, setting a record for an ‘in-ocean’ 
technology. The continued operation of the Perth Wave Energy Project has allowed the Consolidated Group to 
take great steps forward towards commercialising its proprietary CETO technology. The Consolidated Group 
demonstrated that the CETO installation and retrieval methodology is sound through the successful planned 
offshore retrieval of CETO 5 Unit #1 and its subsequent redeployment. These activities are an important 
demonstration of Unit interchangeability which is a key aspect of CETO’s ‘hot swap’ maintenance philosophy, 
which allows the plant to continue operation whereby any CETO Unit can be swapped for another. 
 
Carnegie drew down milestone grant payments for the PWEP from the Western Australian Government Low 
Emissions Energy Development fund, the Federal Government’s Emerging Renewables Program and the Federal 
Government’s AusIndustry Clean Technology Innovation program.  

 Emerging Renewables Program - Carnegie drew down 4 milestone payments relating to the PWEP 
totalling $3,015,421 for the construction of onshore plant, manufacture, Construction and deployment   of 
CETO units, Commission and Practical completion of the project.  

 Low Emissions Energy Development Fund - Carnegie drew down the final 6 milestone payments totalling 
$991,649 for the commissioning, practical completion and operations of the PWEP. 

 Clean Technology Innovation Program - Carnegie drew down 4 milestone payments totalling $255,593 

for the construction of the desalination pilot plant. 
 
The Company continued design and site investigation work for the CETO 6 Project which is the next stage in the 
CETO development and commercialisation. The Project comprises the design, construction, deployment and 
demonstration of three CETO 6 units in a grid-connected, up to 3MW peak installed capacity wave energy project 
at Garden Island, Western Australia. The Project remains supported by a $13 million grant from the Federal 
Government’s Emerging Renewables Program and by a five year $20 million loan facility from the Australian 
Clean Energy Finance Corporation. During the year the first CETO 6 project milestone payment was successfully 
drawn down from the Australian Renewable Energy Agency. 
 
During 2015, Carnegie made continued progress in attractive commercial markets, including building a stronger 
presence in the United Kingdom through the 100% owned subsidiary, CWE UK through its newly appointed UK 
based CEO, Tim Sawyer.  
Further development was made on the CETO technology in the UK, with AU$4m of funding being awarded from 
the Scottish Government for CWE UK to work alongside wave energy developer Aquamarine Power and Bosch 
Rexroth to develop a power take off system to be used in commercial CETO devices. 
 
In addition to the above, during the financial year and to the date of this report, the Consolidated Group: 
 

 Received $3.9 million cash payment under the Australian Federal Government’s Research and 
Development Tax Incentive. 

 Received $1.7 million cash payments from a legacy gold mining royalty payment from Higginsville gold 
mining operations operated by MetalsX Limited. 

 Maintained and expanded the CETO Intellectual Property portfolio globally. 
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FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
The net assets of the Consolidated Group have decreased by $1,890,172 to $92,239,147 as at 30 June 2015. This 
is largely the result of the consolidated loss caused by the expenditure associated with the development of CETO 
technology. 

 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 
 

The following significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Group occurred during the financial year: 

i On 24 June 2015, the Consolidated Group announced it had reached a ground-breaking milestone with the 
Perth Wave Energy Project, with the CETO 5 units reaching 10,000 hours of cumulative continuous 
operation. This was also a significant milestone for the wave energy industry as a whole, as it addresses 
issues around the reliability and survivability of wave energy devices. 

ii On 18 June 2015, the Consolidated Group announced that it had received approval for its final milestone 
payment under the WA State Government’s Low Emissions Energy Development (LEED) fund. The 
payments were in relation to operational milestones under the LEED agreement. 

iii On 20 May 2015, the Consolidated Group announced that it had successfully retrieved CETO 5 Unit #1 as 
part of the overall operation and maintenance activities associated with the Perth Wave Energy Project. 
The Unit was successfully retrieved on its first attempt and validated the Consolidated Group’s ‘hot swap’ 
maintenance philosophy. 

iv On 14 May 2015 the Consolidated Group announced that offshore geophysical surveys were underway for 
the CETO 6 Project at Garden Island, with the results of these surveys influencing elements of the Project, 
such as foundation selection, cable route and overall installation methodology. 

v On 11 May 2015, the Consolidated Group announced the appointment of Mr Jeffrey Harding to the role of 
Chairman of the Board of Directors, with former Chairman Mr Grant Mooney remaining as Non-Executive 
Director and joint Company Secretary. 

vi On 25, February 2015 the Consolidated Group announced that the desalination pilot plant, co-located at 
the Perth Wave Energy Project’s onshore site has been commissioned off the electricity grid. Subsequent 
to commissioning the desalination pilot plant, water supply commenced to HMAS Stirling. 

vii On 20 February 2015, the Consolidated Group announced that financial close had been reached on the 
$20 million Clean Energy Finance Council’s debt facility for the CETO 6 Project at Garden Island. 

viii On 18th February 2015 the Consolidated Group announced that the Perth Wave Energy Project became 
connected to the electricity grid at HMAS Stirling, making it the world’s only currently operating grid-
connected wave energy array. The Project was officially ‘switched on’ by Federal Minister for Industry and 
Science, the Hon. Ian Macfarlane.  

ix On 27 January 2015, the Consolidated Group announced that the second CETO 5 unit was installed and 
operating. The first unit had also been operating for over 1,700 hours. 

x On 25 November 2014, the Consolidated Group announced that the first CETO 5 unit had been installed 
and was operating off Garden Island. 

xi On 11 August 2014, the Consolidated Group received its first milestone payment for the CETO 6 Project at 
Garden Island. 

xii On 6 August 2014, the Consolidated Group announced that it had received $671,462 in royalty payments 
for a mining royalty held in the Higginsville District.  

xiii On 23 July 2014, the Consolidated Group announced it would be part of a CSIRO project, funded by $1.3m 
from the Australian Renewable Energy Agency (ARENA).  The Consolidated Group will be part of a national 
study to develop a wave energy atlas to improve the assessment of wave energy extraction on the marine 
environment. 
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO YEAR END 
 
The following events occurred subsequent to the end of the financial year: 

 On 19 August 2015, the Consolidated Group announced that the offshore geophysical and environmental 
surveys for its CETO 6 – Garden Island Project had been complete, with a preferred project site identified. 

 On 3 August 2015 the Consolidated Group was awarded a $4m (£2m) grant by Wave Energy Scotland, in 
conjunction with its consortium partners Bosch Rexroth and Aquamarine Power, for a robust Power Take 
Off prototype system. The development of this work will feed into the Consolidated Group’s first UK CETO 
project. 

 On 28 July 2015, the Consolidated Group, along with its partner the University of Western Australia was 
awarded a grant from the Australian Research Council for $460,000 to research more efficient anchoring 
systems for the Consolidated Group’s CETO technology. 

 On 10 July 2015 the Consolidated Group announced that it had issued 26,600,000 options under the 
Employee Incentive Option Scheme. 

 
With the exception of the above, no other matters or circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or the 
consolidated financial statements, have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected, or 
may significantly affect, the operations of the Consolidated Group, the results of those operations or the state of 
affairs of the Consolidated Group in subsequent financial years. 
 
PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY 
 
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company 
for all or any part of those proceedings. 
 
The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 
 
FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS, PROSPECTS AND BUSINESS STRATEGIES 
 
During the year, the Company successfully commissioned and operated for the first time the grid connected Perth 
Wave Energy Project (PWEP). The Company continued design work and site survey work on the next CETO 
project, the CETO 6 project at Garden Island Western Australia. 
 
The Company’s immediate focus is now on completing the operational phase of the PWEP including 
demonstrating the maintenance activities and undertaking the data analysis. In parallel, the design of the CETO 
6 project will be completed and the company will continue to progress commercial opportunities for the CETO 
technology. 
 
Carnegie expects that its business model will capture value from a combination of ‘build-own-operate’ projects 
as well as from site development and supplying and licensing the CETO technology.  As the technology 
developer, Carnegie may aim to capture additional value by utilising its inherent knowledge and know-how of 
CETO by offering operations and maintenance services at commercial rates to CETO wave projects globally. 
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ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 
 
The Consolidated Group is required to carry out its activities in accordance with the laws and regulations in the 
areas in which it undertakes its activities. 
 
SHARE OPTIONS 
 
At the date of this report, there were 40,000,000 options outstanding in respect of unissued ordinary shares to 
Directors and a further 121,200,000 options held by employees and third parties. 
 
 
INDEMNIFYING OFFICER OR AUDITOR 
 
During or since the year end, the Company has given an indemnity or entered an agreement to indemnify, or paid 
or agreed to pay insurance premiums as follows: 
 
 the Company has paid premiums to insure the Directors against certain risks they are exposed to as Directors 

of the Company; and 
 

 the Company has agreed to grant Directors a right of access to certain Company Records. 
 
The Company has paid premiums to insure each Director against liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by them 
in defending any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct while acting in the capacity of a Director of the 
Company, other than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the Company. The amount of the 
premium was $25,674. 
 
REMUNERATION REPORT - AUDITED 
 

This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each Director of Carnegie Wave Energy Limited and 

for the specified executives. 
 

Remuneration Policy 
 
The remuneration policy of Carnegie Wave Energy Limited has been designed to align Director and Executive 
objectives with shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component and offering 
specific long-term incentives based on key performance areas affecting the Consolidated Group’s financial 
results. The Board of Carnegie Wave Energy Limited believes the remuneration policy to be appropriate and 
effective in its ability to attract and retain the best Executives and Directors to run and manage the Consolidated 
Group, as well as create goal congruence between Directors, Executives and shareholders. 
 
The Board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for Board members and senior 
executives of the Consolidated Group is as follows: 
 
The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the Executive Directors and other senior executives, 
was developed by the Remuneration Committee after seeking professional advice from independent external 
consultants.  During the year, the Company’s Remuneration Committee benchmarked the Company’s salaries 
payable to senior management by reference to independent industry data to ensure that the Company was 
consistent with prevailing market conditions. All executives receive a base annual salary (which is based on 
factors such as length of service and experience). The Remuneration Committee in consultation with the Board 
of Directors has chosen to adopt an equity based approach to remunerating executive staff and employees for 
the 2015 financial year and beyond.  The Company utilised the Employee Share Option Plan as adopted by 
shareholders in November 2010 (re-affirmed by shareholders on 1 November 2013) as the mechanism by which 
options may be issued to executive management and staff to adequately incentivise these individuals.  
 
The Remuneration Committee reviews executive packages annually by reference to the Consolidated Group’s 
performance, executive performance and comparable information from industry sectors and other listed 
companies in similar industries and then considers the justification of any salary review or participation in the 
Employee Share Option Plan. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONTINUED) 
 
The performance of executives is measured against criteria agreed annually with each executive and is based 
predominantly on the past year’s growth in shareholders’ value over the financial year and by contrast with its 
peers and industry sector.  All incentives must be linked to predetermined performance criteria. The policy is 
designed to attract the highest calibre of executives and reward them for performance that results in long-term 
growth in shareholder wealth. 
 
The Board policy is to remunerate non-executive Directors at market rates for time, commitment and 
responsibilities. The Executive Directors determine payments to the non-executive Directors and review their 
remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability. Independent external advice is 
sought when required. The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive Directors is 
subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. Fees for non-executive Directors are not 
linked to the performance of the Consolidated Group. 
 
Company Performance, Shareholder Wealth and Directors’ and Executives’ Remuneration 
 
During the year, the Company focused its efforts on both the continuing development of the CETO wave energy 
technology and on developing commercial opportunities for the deployment of CETO wave energy projects. 
 
Over the last 12 months the Company continued it’s spend on the Perth Wave Energy Project and CETO 6 
project. This spend was partially offset by the Company drawing down six times (totalling $991,649) on its LEED 
grant from the Western Australian Government, five times from the federal government grants (totalling 
$3,065,421) from the Australian Renewable Energy Agency and four times from the Federal Government’s 
AusIndustry Clean Technology Innovation program. The Company’s share price has remained impacted by the 
continued policy uncertainty in relevant markets. In spite of this, the Company has maintained and increased its 
ability to continue the CETO and commercial site development. 
 

 
 
The remuneration for each Director and specified Executive of the consolidated entity paid during the year was as follows: 
 

Details of Remuneration for Year Ended 30 June 2015 
 

 
 
* Fees include Company Secretarial fees paid to Mooney & Partners Pty Ltd, a company associated with Grant Mooney.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cash salary, leave 

paid and fees Non Cash Benefits Performance

Jeffrey Harding 59,945$                  -$                       5,694$                    -$              -$              -                   

Mike Fitzpatrick 57,500$                  -$                       -$                       -$              -$              -                   

John Leggate 80,571$                  -$                       -$                       -$              -$              -                   

Grant Mooney* 168,554$                -$                       6,892$                    -$              -$              -                   

Kieran O'Brien 143,585$                -$                       -$                       -$              -$              -                   

Michael Ottaviano 639,898$                17,076$                  18,783$                  15,579$         -$              -                   

Greg Allen 249,999$                -$                       21,850$                  9,356$          80,226$         -                   

Total 1,400,052$              17,076$                  53,219$                  24,935$         80,226$         

Actual rewards received in the period Actuarial valuation of

potential future rewards

Short-term benefits
Post Employment 

Benefits - Super

Other long 

term benefits

Share based 

payments

  2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

  $ $ $ $ $ 

Revenue  336,274 430,1009 351,917 1,913,452 1,716,516 

Net loss after tax  (6,772,325) (4,521,876) (3,303,572) (4,176,921) (4,784,050) 

Share price at year 
end 

 0.076 0.027 0.030        0.050 0.045 
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REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONTINUED) 
 
Details of Remuneration for Year Ended 30 June 2014 
 

 
 
* Fees include Company Secretarial fees paid to Mooney & Partners Pty Ltd, a company associated with Grant Mooney.  

 

Performance Income as a Proportion of Total Remuneration 
 
No performance based incentive bonus was awarded or paid during the year. 
 
Options Issued as Part of Remuneration for the Year Ended 30 June 2015 
 
No options were issued to Directors during the financial year.  
 
Employment Contracts Of Directors 
 
The employment conditions of the Non-Executive Directors, Executive Director, Kieran O’Brien, the Chairman, 
Jeff Harding and Managing Director, Michael Ottaviano are formalised in Service Contracts. The Managing 
Director, Michael Ottaviano, is contracted under a contract for $691,616 per annum including superannuation 
plus a fully serviced company vehicle. The Executive Director, Kieran O’Brien, is under a contract for €96,000 
per annum. Non-Executive Director, John Leggate, is under a contract for €71,250 per annum. Non-Executive 
Directors, Michael Fitzpatrick and Grant Mooney, are under a contract for $57,500 per annum. The above 
contracts remain effective from 1 July 2015. 
 
During the year Jeffrey Harding was appointed as Chairman. As the Chairman, he receives a base salary of 
$75,000 per annum. This remains effective from 1 July 2015.  
 
There is a contract for service between the Company and Mooney & Partners Pty Ltd, an entity associated with 
Grant Mooney, commencing from 9 October 2009 for an initial period of 3 years and subsequently on a rolling 
basis, whereby Mr Mooney provides Company Secretarial services and receives a fee of $96,000 per annum 
(exclusive of GST). Non-Executive Director he receives a base salary of $57,500 per annum effective from 1 July 
2015.  
 
The employment contracts for Grant Mooney and Michael Ottaviano stipulate three months resignation period. The 
Company may terminate an employment contract without cause by providing three months written notice or making 
payment in lieu of notice, based on the individual’s annual salary component. Termination payments are generally 
not payable on resignation or dismissal for serious misconduct.  In the instance of serious misconduct the Company 
can terminate employment at any time. Termination payments are in accordance with Corporation Act 2001. 
 
END OF REMUNERATION REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cash salary, leave 

paid and fees Non Cash Benefits Performance

Jeffrey Harding 57,500$                  -$                       5,318$                    -$              105,400$       -                   

Mike Fitzpatrick 57,500$                  -$                       -$                       -$              105,400$       -                   

John Leggate 127,555$                -$                       -$                       -$              105,400$       -                   

Grant Mooney* 171,000$                -$                       6,937$                    -$              316,200$       -                   

Kieran O'Brien 159,842$                -$                       -$                       -$              210,800$       -                   

Michael Ottaviano 581,725$                16,671$                  17,774$                  53,962$         876,855$       -                   

Greg Allen 235,320$                -$                       19,917$                  12,489$         54,429$         -                   

Total 1,390,442$              16,671$                  49,946$                  66,451$         1,774,484$    

Actual rewards received in the period Actuarial valuation of

potential future rewards

Short-term benefits
Post Employment 

Benefits - Super

Other long 

term benefits

Share based 

payments
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NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
 
The external auditors were not engaged for non-audit services during the financial year ended 30 June 2015. 
 
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2015 has been received and can be found on 
page 13. 
 
DIRECTORS' MEETINGS 
 
There were 8 Directors' meetings held during the financial year ended 30 June 2015. Attendances were as follows: 
 

Director Number Attended 

 Directors Audit Committee Remuneration 
Committee 

 No. Meetings 
attended 

No. Meetings held 
during time in office 

  

Jeffrey Harding 8 8 2 NA 

Dr Michael E Ottaviano 8 8 NA NA 

Grant Mooney 8 8 2 2 

Kieran O’Brien 8 8 NA 2 

John Leggate 8 8 NA 2 

Michael Fitzpatrick 8 8 1 NA 

  

There were a total of 4 circular resolutions passed by the Board of Directors during the financial year.  

 

 

Signed on 28th August 2015 in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

             

   

DR MICHAEL EDWARD OTTAVIANO  GRANT JONATHAN MOONEY  

Managing Director   Director 

 



 
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead auditor for 
the audit of Carnegie Wave Energy Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2015, I declare that, to the best of 
my knowledge and belief, there have been: 
 
(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 

relation to the audit; and 
 

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 

 
CROWE HORWATH PERTH  

 
SEAN MCGURK 
Partner 
 
Signed at Perth, 28 August 2015  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Crowe Horwath Perth is a member of Crowe Horwath International, a Swiss verein. Each member firm of Crowe Horwath is a separate and 
independent legal entity. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation other than for the acts or omissions of 
financial services licensees. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR YEAR 

ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

 

 

 Note Consolidated Group 

   

2015 

$ 

 

2014 

$ 

    

Royalty income  2 1,417,715 1,623,957 

Other income  2 298,802 289,495 

Depreciation expense  (109,015) (71,205) 

Occupancy expense  (328,109) (256,512) 

Consultancy expenses  (260,991) (224,421) 

Research expenses  (236,064) (167,163) 

Employee and Directors expenses  (2,104,465) (1,512,609) 

Employee Share based payments 27 (771,450) (2,082,121) 

Finance costs  (1,251,806) (357,933) 

Company secretarial expenses  (96,000) (96,000) 

Administrative expenses  (1,321,533) (1,287,657) 

Other expenses from ordinary activities  (21,134) (34,752) 

Loss before income tax 3 (4,784,050) (4,176,921) 

Income tax benefit/(expense) 4 - - 

Loss for the year  (4,784,050) (4,176,921) 

Other comprehensive income    

Exchange differences on translating foreign controlled entities and 

foreign currencies 

 

(84,332) 85,931 

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (4,868,382) (4,090,990) 

    

Loss attributable to:    

Members of the parent entity  (4,784,050) (4,176,921) 

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:    

Members of the parent entity  (4,868,382) (4,090,990) 

    

Earnings per share    

Basic loss per share (cents per share) 7 (0.275) (0.270) 

    

Diluted loss per share (cents per share) 7 (0.275) (0.270) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

 

 

 

 Note Consolidated Group 

   

2015 

$ 

 

2014 

$ 

ASSETS    

CURRENT ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents  8 4,724,794 14,177,509 

Trade and other receivables 9 1,621,009 856,744 

Other assets 14 57,807 26,340 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  6,403,610 15,060,593 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Trade and other receivables 9 351,017 604,275 

Available for sale financial assets 10 12,414 12,414 

Property, plant and equipment 12 402,488 414,318 

Intangible assets 13 90,102,248 86,159,659 

Other non-current assets 14 153,290 138,555 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  91,021,457 87,329,221 

TOTAL ASSETS  97,425,067 102,389,814 

LIABILITIES    

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 15 979,297 3,468,375 

Short-term provisions 17 369,135 1,183,652 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  1,348,432 4,652,027 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 15 47,252 28,360 

Long-term provision 17 229,155 104,978 

Long-term borrowings 16 3,561,081 3,475,130 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  3,837,488 3,608,468 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  5,185,920 8,260,495 

NET ASSETS  92,239,147 94,129,319 

EQUITY    

Issued capital 18 144,940,603 142,656,965 

Reserves 19 7,863,814 12,823,425 

Accumulated losses  (60,565,270) (61,351,071) 

TOTAL EQUITY  92,239,147 94,129,319 



CARNEGIE WAVE ENERGY LIMITED 

ABN 69 009 237 736 

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

16  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

Consolidated Group Note 

Issued 

Capital 

Accumulated 

Losses 

Foreign 

Currency 

Reserve 

Option 

Reserve Total 

Balance at 1.7.2013  132,968,498 (57,174,150) 81 10,173,184 85,967,613 

Comprehensive loss    
 

  

Loss for the year  - (4,176,921) - - (4,176,921) 

Other comprehensive income  - - 85,931 - 85,931 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  - (4,176,921) 85,931 - (4,090,990) 

       

Transactions with owners        

Share capital issued during the year  9,799,076 - - - 9,799,076 

Capital raising costs  (110,609) - - - (110,609) 

Equity portion of convertible note  - - - 482,108 482,108 

Share based payment expense  - - - 2,082,121 2,082,121 

Total transactions with owners   9,688,467 - - 2,564,229 12,252,696 

       

Balance at 30.6.2014  142,656,965 (61,351,071) 86,012 12,737,413 94,129,319 

       

Balance at 1.7.2014  142,656,965 (61,351,071) 86,012 12,737,413 94,129,319 

       

Comprehensive loss       

Loss for the year  - (4,784,050) - - (4,784,050) 

Other comprehensive income  - - (84,332) - (84,332) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  - (4,784,050) (84,332) - (4,868,382) 

       

Transactions with owners        

Share capital issued during the year  2,211,960 - - - 2,211,960 

Capital raising costs  (5,200) - - - (5,200) 

Equity portion of convertible note  - - - - - 

Share based payment expense  76,878 - - 694,572 771,450 

Share based payment expired 

unexercised  - 5,569,851 

 

(5,569,851) - 

Total transactions with owners   2,283,638 
5,569,851 - 

(4,875,279) 2,978,210 

       

Balance at 30.6.2015  144,940,603 (60,565,270) 1,680 7,862,134 92,239,147 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

 

 Notes Consolidated Group 

  2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Receipts from Royalties  1,341,678 1,322,581 

Interest received  231,564 265,225 

Interest paid  (10,043) (21,924) 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (8,730,247) (6,975,790) 

Receipts from R&D Tax Rebate  3,963,327 2,263,825 

Receipts from Government grant funding  4,312,663 14,034,254 

Net cash provided by operating activities      23 1,108,942 10,888,171 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Payments for development of asset  (10,945,137) (21,608,609) 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (108,997) (124,897) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  3,084 - 

Net cash (used in) investing activities  (11,051,050) (21,733,506) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from Issue of Shares  594,800 9,212,743 

Proceeds from Issue of Convertible Note   - 3,830,505 

Net cash provided by financing activities  594,800 13,043,248 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash held  (9,347,308) 2,197,913 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year   14,177,509 11,893,898 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held  (105,407) 85,698 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 8 4,724,794 14,177,509 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

Carnegie Wave Energy Limited (“the company”) is a company domiciled in Australia. The consolidated financial statements of 

the company as at and for the twelve months ended 30 June 2015 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (‘Consolidated 

Group’).  

The separate financial statements of the Company, Carnegie Wave Energy Limited, have not been presented within this 
financial report as permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The Group is a ‘for profit’ entity for financial reporting purposes 
under Australian Accounting Standards. 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28th August 2015. 

Basis of Preparation 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 

Standards (AASB), adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. 

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in a financial report 

containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions to which they apply. Compliance with 

Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial 

Reporting Standards.  Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this financial report are presented below. 

They have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated. 

 

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by 

the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. 

 

New and amended accounting standards and interpretations 

 

The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by 

the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early 

adopted. 

The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the financial 

performance or position of the consolidated entity. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

Accounting Policies 

a. Principles of Consolidation 

 The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of entities controlled by 

Carnegie Wave Energy Limited at the end of the reporting period. A controlled entity is any entity over which 

Carnegie Wave Energy Limited has the power to direct the activities of the entity and is exposed to, or has rights 

to, variable returns from its involvement. Control will generally exist when the parent owns, directly or indirectly 

through subsidiaries, more than half of the voting power of an entity.  In assessing the power to govern, the 

existence and effect of holdings of actual and potential voting rights are also considered. 

 Where controlled entities have entered or left the Group during the year, the financial performance of those 

entities are included only for the period of the year that they were controlled.  A list of controlled entities is 

contained in Note 11 to the financial statements. 

 In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-group balances and transactions between entities in 

the consolidated group have been eliminated on consolidation.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 

changed where necessary to ensure consistency with those adopted by the parent entity. 

b. Income Tax 

 The income tax expense (revenue) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and deferred 

tax expense (income). 

 Current income tax expense charged to the profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income calculated using 

applicable income tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted, as at reporting date. Current tax liabilities (assets) 

are therefore measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority. 

 Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during 

the year as well unused tax losses. 

 Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited directly to equity instead of the profit 

or loss when the tax relates to items that are credited or charged directly to equity. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax bases 

of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets also result 

where amounts have been fully expensed but future tax deductions are available.  No deferred income tax will 

be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there 

is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 

the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at reporting 

date.  Their measurement also reflects the manner in which management expects to recover or settle the 

carrying amount of the related asset or liability. 

 Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent 

that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset 

can be utilised. 

 Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, associates, deferred tax assets and 

liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and 

it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future. 

 Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended 

that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists, the deferred tax 

assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable 

entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and 

settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in future periods in which significant amounts of deferred 

tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 

c. Property, Plant and Equipment  

 Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation 

and impairment losses. 

 Plant and equipment 

 Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

 The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it is not in excess of 

the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected 

net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net 

cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts. 

 The cost of fixed assets constructed within the Consolidated Group includes the cost of materials, direct labour, 

borrowing costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads. 

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 

only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the 

cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income 

statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

 Depreciation 

 The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including capitalised lease assets is depreciated on a straight-line 

basis over their useful lives to the Consolidated Group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for 

use.  

 The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 

 Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 

 Plant and equipment 1.0% – 33.33% 

 The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each Statement of 

Financial Position date.  An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if 

the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains 

and losses are included in the income statement. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the 

revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings. 

d. Leases 

 Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, 

but not the legal ownership that is transferred to entities in the consolidated group, are classified as finance 

leases.  

 Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair 

value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed 

residual values. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest 

expense for the period. 

 Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the 

lease term.  

 Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are 

charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.  

e. Financial Instruments 

 Recognition and Initial Measurement 

 Financial instruments, incorporating financial assets and financial liabilities, are recognised when the entity 

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  For financial assets, this is equivalent to the 

date that the company commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is 

adopted). 

 Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs, except where the instrument 

is classified ‘at fair value through profit or loss’, in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss 

immediately. 

 

 Classification and Subsequent Measurement 

Financial instruments are subsequently measured at either of fair value, amortised cost using the effective 

interest rate method, or cost. Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a 

liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties. Where available, quoted prices in an active market 

are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

 Amortised cost is calculated as: 

a. The amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition; 

b. Less principal repayments; 

c. Plus or minus the cumulative amortisation of the difference, if any, between the amount initially 

recognised and the maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method; and 

d. Less any reduction for impairment. 

The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant period 

and is equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including fees, 

transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably 

predicted, the contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or 

financial liability. Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying 

value with a consequential recognition of an income or expense in profit or loss. 

The Group does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or as being subject to the requirements 

of accounting standards specifically applicable to financial instruments. 

 i. Loans and receivables 

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

 ii. Available-for-sale financial assets 

 Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either not suitable to be 

classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature, or they are designated as such 

by management. They comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither a 

fixed maturity nor determinable payments. 

 iii. Financial Liabilities 

 Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost. 

 Fair value  

 Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are 

applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, 

reference to similar instruments and option pricing models.  

 Impairment  

 At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial instrument 

has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in 

the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen. Impairment losses 

are recognised in the income statement.  

 Derecognition 

Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is 

transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the 

risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related 

obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying value of the 

financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration paid, including 

the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

f. Borrowings 

Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction 

costs. Where appropriate they are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method. 

Where there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 

date, the loans or borrowings are classified as non-current. 

The component of the convertible notes that exhibits characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in 

the statement of financial position, net of transaction costs. 

On the issue of the convertible notes the fair value of the liability component is determined using a market 

rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond and this amount is carried as a financial liability on the amortised 

cost basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The increase in the liability due to the application 

of the effective interest method is recognised as a finance cost. The remainder of the proceeds are allocated 

to the conversion option. Where the conversion option meets the definition of equity, it is recognised and 

included in shareholders equity, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the conversion option is not 

remeasured in the subsequent years. The corresponding interest on convertible notes is expensed to profit 

or loss. 
 

g. Finance costs 

Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are 

expensed in the period in which they are incurred, including: 

  interest on the bank overdraft 

  interest on short-term and long-term borrowings 

  interest on finance leases 
  

h. Impairment of Assets 

 At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset 

may be impaired. The assessment will include the consideration of external and internal sources of 

information including dividends received from subsidiaries or associates. If such an indication exists, an 

impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable amount of the asset, being the 

higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, to the asset’s carrying value. Any 

excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed immediately in the profit or 

loss unless the asset is carried at a re-valued amount in accordance with another accounting standard. 

 Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates 

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 Impairment testing is performed annually for intangible assets with indefinite lives. 

i. Intangible Asset – Acquired Intellectual Property and Development costs  

 An intangible asset arising from externally acquired intellectual property and development expenditure 

on an internal project is recognised only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of 

completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its 

ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of 

resources to complete the development and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable 

to the intangible asset during its development. Following the initial recognition of acquired intellectual 

property and the development expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be carried at 

cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from acquired intellectual property and development 

expenditure is tested for impairment annually when the asset is not yet available for use or more 

frequently when an indication of impairment arises during the reporting period. 

Acquired intellectual property and development cost in respect of an asset available for use have a finite 

useful life and are amortised on a systematic basis on the economic benefits over the useful life of the 

project.  

 

 

  

  



CARNEGIE WAVE ENERGY LIMITED 

ABN 69 009 237 736 

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

23  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

j. Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances 

 Functional and presentation currency 

 The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in 

Australian dollars which is the parent entity’s functional and presentation currency. 

 Transaction and balances 

 Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 

the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. 

Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of 

the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date 

when fair values were determined. 

 Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the income statement, 

except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 

 Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to 

the extent that the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange difference is 

recognised in the income statement. 

k. Employee Benefits  

Provision is made for the company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by 

employees to balance date. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been 

measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs. Employee 

benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 

outflows to be made for those benefits. 

l. Equity-settled compensation 

 (i) Equity-settled 

The Group operates equity-settled share-based payment employee share and option schemes. The fair 

value of the equity to which employees become entitled is measured at grant date and recognised as an 

expense over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase to the Option Reserve. The fair value of 

shares is ascertained as the market bid price. The fair value of options is ascertained using a Black-Scholes 

pricing model which incorporates all market vesting conditions. The number of shares and options expected 

to vest is reviewed and adjusted at each reporting date such that the amount recognised for services 

received as consideration for the equity instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity 

instruments that eventually vest. 

The cumulative cost recognised until settlement is a liability and the periodic determination of this liability is 

as follows: 

 At each reporting date between grant and settlement, the fair value of the benefit is determined 

(a) During the vesting period, the liability recognised at each reporting date is the fair value of the benefit 

at that date multiplied by the expired portion of the vesting period 

(b) From the end of the vesting period until settlement, the liability recognised is the full fair value of the 

liability at the reporting date 

(c) All changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss for the period. 

The fair value of the liability is determined, initially and at each reporting date until it is settled, by 

applying the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions on which 

the benefit was granted, and to the extent to which employees have rendered service to date. 

For shares acquired under limited recourse loans, the Group is required to recognise within the income 
statement a remuneration expense measured at the fair value of the shares inherent in the issue to the eligible 
person, with a corresponding increase to a share-based payments reserve in equity. The fair value is 
measured at grant date and recognised when the eligible person becomes unconditionally entitled to the 
shares, effectively on grant. A loan receivable is not recognised. 

m. Provisions 

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, 

for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably 

measured.  
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

  NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

n. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks. 

o. Revenue and Other Income 

 Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to 

the financial asset. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in income in the period in which they are incurred. 

Royalty income is recognised on an accrual basis. Royalty income is received on a quarterly basis and any 

under or over accrual applicable to previously recognised royalty income is adjusted for based on the receipt 

of the royalty income entitlement. 

p. Trade and Other Receivables 

Trade and other receivables include amounts due from customers for goods sold and services performed 

in the ordinary course of business. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the 

reporting period are classified as current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets. 

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Refer to Note 1(h) for further 

discussion on the determination of impairment losses. 

q.  Trade and Other Payables 

Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the entity that remain 

unpaid at the end of the reporting period. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts 

normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability. 

r. Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of 

GST incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part 

of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the 

Statement of Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST.  

 Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST component of 

investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.  

s s. 

 

 

Government Grants 

Government grants are recognised at fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 

received and all grant conditions will be met. Where grant conditions are not yet fully met, government 

grants will be treated as unearned government funding in the balance sheet. Grants relating to expense 

items are recognised as an offset against these expenses to match the costs they are compensating. Grants 

relating to items capitalised as assets are recognised as an offset against the asset to match the costs they 

are compensating.   

t. t. Research and Development Tax Incentive 

 Research and development tax refunds are recognised as an offset against intangible assets on a receipt 

basis. 

 u. Earnings/(loss) per share 

Basic Earnings/(Loss) per share is calculated as net profit/(loss) attributable to members of the 

Consolidated Group, adjusted to exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by 

the weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue throughout the reporting period. 

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the Consolidated 

Group, adjusted for, the dilutive effects of any outstanding unlisted options over ordinary shares in the 

parent.  

  v. Contributed Equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 

or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

w. Comparative Figures 

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes 

in presentation for the current financial year.  

When the Group applies an accounting policy retrospectively, makes a retrospective restatement or 

reclassifies items in its financial statements, a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the 

earliest comparative period will be disclosed. 

x. New Accounting Standards for Application in the Current Period 

None of the new standards and amendments to standards that are mandatory for the first time for the financial 

year beginning 1 July 2014 affected any of the amounts recognised in the current period or any prior period 

and are not likely to affect future periods.  

y. New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods 

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not 
yet mandatory, have not been early adopted by the consolidated entity for the annual reporting period ended 
30 June 2015. The consolidated entity's assessment of the impact of these new or amended Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations, most relevant to the consolidated entity, are set out below. 

 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard 

replaces all previous versions of AASB 9 and completes the project to replace IAS 39 'Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'. AASB 9 introduces new classification and measurement 

models for financial assets. A financial asset shall be measured at amortised cost, if it is held within a 

business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, which arise on 

specified dates and solely principal and interest. All other financial instrument assets are to be classified 

and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the entity makes an irrevocable election on initial 

recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments (that are not held-for-trading) in other 

comprehensive income ('OCI'). For financial liabilities, the standard requires the portion of the change in 

fair value that relates to the entity's own credit risk to be presented in OCI (unless it would create an 

accounting mismatch). New simpler hedge accounting requirements are intended to more closely align the 

accounting treatment with the risk management activities of the entity. New impairment requirements will 

use an 'expected credit loss' ('ECL') model to recognise an allowance. Impairment will be measured under 

a 12-month ECL method unless the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since 

initial recognition in which case the lifetime ECL method is adopted. The standard introduces additional 

new disclosures. The consolidated entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2018 but the impact of its 

adoption is yet to be assessed by the consolidated entity. 
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. The standard 

provides a single standard for revenue recognition. The core principle of the standard is that an entity will 

recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that 

reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 

The standard will require: contracts (either written, verbal or implied) to be identified, together with the 

separate performance obligations within the contract; determine the transaction price, adjusted for the 

time value of money excluding credit risk; allocation of the transaction price to the separate performance 

obligations on a basis of relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service, or estimation 

approach if no distinct observable prices exist; and recognition of revenue when each performance 

obligation is satisfied. Credit risk will be presented separately as an expense rather than adjusted to 

revenue. For goods, the performance obligation would be satisfied when the customer obtains control of 

the goods. For services, the performance obligation is satisfied when the service has been provided, 

typically for promises to transfer services to customers. For performance obligations satisfied over time, 

an entity would select an appropriate measure of progress to determine how much revenue should be 

recognised as the performance obligation is satisfied. Contracts with customers will be presented in an 

entity's statement of financial position as a contract liability, a contract asset, or a receivable, depending 

on the relationship between the entity's performance and the customer's payment. Sufficient quantitative 

and qualitative disclosure is required to enable users to understand the contracts with customers; the 

significant judgments made in applying the guidance to those contracts; and any assets recognised from 

the costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer. The consolidated entity will adopt this standard from 

1 July 2017 but the impact of its adoption is yet to be assessed by the consolidated entity. 

 

z. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

Significant accounting judgements 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 

judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts 

recognised in the financial statements: 

 

Impairment of development asset 

The Group assesses impairment of all assets (including intangible assets) at each reporting date by 

evaluating conditions specific to the Group and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. If an 

impairment trigger exists the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Impairment test is also carried 

out for all intangible assets with indefinite useful life (Note 13). 

 

Share based payment transactions 

The Consolidated Group measures the cost of equity settled transactions with employees by reference to 

the fair value of the equity instrument at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined 

by using Black Scholes formula taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments 

are granted, as disclosed in Note 27.  
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NOTE 3: LOSS FOR THE YEAR 

  Consolidated Group 

  Notes  2015 

 $ 

2014 

$ 

a. Expenses    

 Depreciation of non-current assets – 

property, plant and equipment  

 

109,015 71,205 

 Asset write down  - - 

 Doubtful debts expense  486 472 

 Movement in provision for doubtful 

debts:  

   

   wholly-owned subsidiaries   486 472 

  Net movement in provisions  486 472 

     

 Net loss on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment 

 

(718) - 

     

     

     
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 2: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 

  Consolidated Group 

  Notes 2015 

 $ 

2014 

$ 

    

Royalty income              a                      1,417,715 1,623,957 

    

Other income     

Interest received   b                         207,835                291,702 

Sale of fixed assets  - - 

Sale of Investments  - - 

Realised gain on foreign exchange  91,685 (2,207) 

  298,802 289,495 

  

a. As a result of activities prior to the development of the CETO technology, the Company still holds a mining royalty 

with respect to a gold deposit in Western Australia. Under the royalty agreement, the Company receives a 

payment per ounce of gold extracted by third parties. The past and any future royalty income stream requires no 

expenditure or resources by the Company. 

b. Interest revenue from:    

  Bank deposits  207,835 291,702 

Total interest revenue   207,835 291,702 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 4: INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

  Consolidated Group 

 Notes  2015 

 $ 

2014 

$ 

a. The components of tax expense 

comprise: 

   

 Current tax    905,153 3,750,244 

 Deferred tax   (905,153) (3,750,244) 

   - - 

b. The prima facie tax on profit from 

ordinary activities before income tax 

is reconciled to the income tax as 

follows: 

   

 Prima facie tax payable (benefit) on 

profit from ordinary activities before 

income tax at 30% (2014: 30%)  

   

 — Consolidated Group   (1,402,524) (1,227,297) 

      

 Add:      

 Tax effect of:      

 — other non-allowable items   5,066 4,128 

 — tax losses not recognised  (451,096) (3,750,244) 

 — Non deductible R&D costs  212,298 - 

 — Assessable government 

grants 

 

1,293,799 - 

 — Share options expensed 

during year 

 

231,435 624,636 

 — Movement in deferred tax 

balances not recognised  

 

188,565 4,348,777 

 — Under/(over) re utilisation of 

previously unrecognised 

losses  

 

(454,348) - 

 — Under/(over) provided in prior 

periods  

 

376,805 - 

      

 Less:      

 Tax effect of:      

 — capital profits not subject to 

income tax 

 
- - 

 — other allowable items  - - 

 Income tax attributable to entity  

 

- -  

 Current tax benefit  - -  
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NOTE 5: INTERESTS OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (KMP) 

 Refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the Report of the Directors for details of the remuneration paid or payable 

to each member of the Group’s key management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2015. 

a. Names and positions held in economic and parent entity by key management personnel in office at any time 

during the financial year are: 

 Key Management Person Position 

 Jeffrey Harding Non-Executive Chairman 

 Michael Ottaviano Managing Director 

 Kieran O’Brien Executive Director 

 Michael Fitzpatrick Non- executive Director  

 Grant J Mooney Non-executive Director and Company Secretary 

 John Leggate 

 

Non-executive Director 

 Greg Allen Chief Operating Officer 

 The totals of remuneration paid to KMP of the Company and the Group during the year are as follows: 

  2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

 Short term employee benefits 1,417,128 1,407,113   

 Share based payments 80,226 1,774,484 

 Post employment benefits 53,219 49,946 

  1,550,574 3,231,543 

b. Options and Rights Holdings  

 Movement in equity settled options held by key management personnel is detailed below: 

  Balance 

1.7.2014 

Granted as 

Compensation 

Options 

Exercised 

Net Change 

Other 

Balance  

30.6.2015 

 Kieran O’Brien 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 

 Michael Fitzpatrick 15,000,000 - (10,000,000) - 5,000,000 

 Grant Mooney 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000 

 John Leggate 5,000,000 - -                      -       5,000,000 

 Jeffrey Harding 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 

 Greg Allen 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 

 Total 60,000,000 - (10,000,000) - 50,000,000 
 

 

 

 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

     NOTE 4: INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONT’) 

The Group has tax losses carried forward of $34,148,664 (2014: $35,652,318). The tax losses do not expire under current tax 

legislation. Deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of tax losses carried forward as a formal assessment of the 

recoverability of the tax losses under the current tax legislation has not been performed. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 5: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION (CONT’D) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Details of equity settled options for key management personnel outstanding at balance sheet date are as follows: 

     Terms & Conditions for Each Grant 

 Vested No. Granted No. Grant Date Value per 

Option at 

Grant Date 

Exercise 

Price 

 

First 

Exercise 

Date 

Last Exercise 

Date 

Key Management Personnel        

Grant Mooney 15,000,000 15,000,000 25 Nov 2013 2.11 cents 6.5 cents 25 Nov 2013 24 Nov 2018 

Kieran O’Brien 10,000,000 10,000,000 25 Nov 2013 2.11 cents 6.5 cents 25 Nov 2013 24 Nov 2018 

Jeffrey Harding 5,000,000 5,000,000 25 Nov 2013 2.11 cents 6.5 cents 25 Nov 2013 24 Nov 2018 

John Leggate 5,000,000 5,000,000 25 Nov 2013 2.11 cents 6.5 cents 25 Nov 2013 24 Nov 2018 

Michael Fitzpatrick 5,000,000 5,000,000 25 Nov 2013 2.11 cents 6.5 cents 25 Nov 2013 24 Nov 2018 

Greg Allen 10,000,000 10,000,000   5 Nov 2012 1.28 cents 5.0 cents   4 Nov 2013   4 Nov 2015 

Greg Allen 2,500,000 5,000,000 4 Jul 2014 1.86 cents 7.3 cents 4 Jul 2015 3 Jul 2017 

 52,500,000 55,000,000      

 

All options were granted for nil consideration. 
 
 
 

 

 

c. Shareholdings 

 Number of Shares held by Key Management Personnel 

 Balance 

1.7.2014 

Received as 

Compensation 

Options 

Exercised 

Net Change 

Other 

Balance 30.6.2015 

Michael Fitzpatrick 115,365,359 - 10,000,000 - 125,365,359 

Michael Ottaviano 39,790,000 - - - 39,790,000 

Grant J Mooney 2,553,651 - - - 2,553,651 

Jeffrey Harding 958,750 - - - 958,750 

Kieran O’Brien 170,000 - - - 170,000 

John Leggate 100,000 - - - 100,000 

Greg Allen 3,000 - - - 3,000 

Total 158,940,760 - 10,000,000 - 168,940,760 

 
 

  Consolidated Group 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 6: AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION N 2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

Remuneration of the auditor of the parent entity for: 

  auditing or reviewing the 

financial report 

 

80,000                            79,000   

 

 

NOTE 7: EARNINGS PER SHARE 

   Consolidated Group 

   2015 2014 

Basic loss per share (cents per share)  (0.275) (0.270) 

Diluted loss per share (cents per share)  (0.275) (0.270) 

     

(a) Reconciliation of earning to Net Loss    

 Loss used in the calculation of basic EPS  (4,784,050) (4,176,921) 

 Loss used in the calculation of diluted EPS  (4,784,050) (4,176,921) 

     

(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in     

 calculation of weighted average earnings per share  1,738,203,240 1,547,179,324 

 As at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2015, the outstanding 

options were not dilutive as the weighted average exercise 

price of the options were higher than the weighted average 

share price for the year. 

 

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary 

shares or potential ordinary shares since the reporting date 

and before the completion of these financial statements. 

 

  
 

 

NOTE 8: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 Consolidated Group 

 2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

Cash on hand 222 681 

Cash at bank 4,724,572 14,176,828 

 4,724,794 14,177,509 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 9: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

Consolidated Group Gross Amount Past due but not impaired 

(days overdue) 

Within trade 

terms 

2015  

                   $ 

1-30 

$ 

31-60 

$ 

61+ 

$ 

 

             $ 

CURRENT      

Trade receivables 384 (215) - 599 - 

Prepayments 627,902 - - - 627,902 

Accrued revenue 380,160 - - - 380,160 

Other receivables 8,288 - - - 8,288 

Security deposits 604,275 - - - 604,275 

 1,621,009 (215) - 599 1,620,625 

 

NON CURRENT 

     

Prepayments 351,017 - - - 351,017 

Security deposits - - - - - 

 351,017 - - - 351,017 

    

 Gross Amount Past due but not impaired 

(days overdue) 

Within trade 

terms 

2014  

                   $ 

1-30 

$ 

31-60 

$ 

61+ 

$ 

 

             $ 

CURRENT      

Trade receivables 19,493 17,308 - 2,185 - 

Prepayments 428,451 - - - 428,451 

Accrued revenue 327,852 - - - 327,852 

Other receivables 9,184 - - - 9,184 

Security deposits 71,764 - - - 71,764 

 856,744 17,308 - 2,185 837,251 

 

NON CURRENT 

     

Prepayments - - - - - 

Security deposits 604,275 - - - 604,275 

 604,275 - - - 604,275 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 10: AVAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 

  Consolidated Group 

  Notes  2015 

 $ 

2014 

$ 

Available-for-sale financial assets   a 12,414 12,414 

    

a. Available-for-sale Financial 

Assets Comprise 

   

 Unlisted investments, at cost    

 — shares in other 

corporations  12,414 12,414 

   12,414 12,414 

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise investments in the ordinary issued capital of various entities. There are no 

fixed returns or fixed maturity date attached to these investments. 

The fair value of unlisted available-for-sale financial assets cannot be reliably measured. As a result, all unlisted 

investments are reflected at cost.  

 

 

NOTE 11: INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 

 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1: 

 

     

  Country of Incorporation Percentage Owned (%)* 

   2015 2014 

 Subsidiaries of Carnegie Wave Energy Limited:    

 CMA Nominees Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

 New Millennium Engineering Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

 Carnegie Recreational Watercraft Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

 CETO IP (Australia) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

 CETO Wave Energy Ireland  Ireland 100 100 

 CETO Wave Energy UK United Kingdom 100 100 

 CETO Wave Energy Chile Chile 100 100 

 Pacific Coastal Wave Energy Corp. Canada 95 95 

     

 * Percentage of voting power is in proportion to ownership 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 12: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

  Consolidated Group 

   2015 

 $ 

2014 

$ 

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT    

Plant and equipment:    

At cost  1,145,627 1,049,708 

Accumulated depreciation  (743,139) (635,390) 

    

Total plant and equipment  402,488 414,318 

  

a. Movements in Carrying Amounts 

 Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the 

end of the current financial year 

 

 Plant and Equipment 

2015 $ 

Consolidated Group:  

Balance at the beginning of year 414,318 

Additions 100,988 

Disposals (3,802) 

Impairment - 

Depreciation expense (109,015) 

Carrying amount at the end of year 402,488 

  

2014  

Consolidated Group:  

Balance at the beginning of year 285,080 

Additions 200,443 

Disposals - 

Impairment - 

Depreciation expense (71,205) 

Carrying amount at the end of year 414,318 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 13: INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

   Consolidated Group 

    2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

Intellectual Property (CETO IP)      

Cost    55,989,877 55,989,877 

Net carrying value    55,989,877 55,989,877 

Development costs – since acquisition      

Cost    34,112,371 30,169,782 

Accumulated amortisation and 

impairment    - - 

Net carrying value    34,112,371 30,169,782 

Total intangibles    90,102,248 86,159,659 

      

Movements in Carrying Amounts  Intellectual 

Property 

 

Development  

  (CETO IP) Costs 

  $ $ 

Consolidated Group:    

Year ended 30 June 2014    

Balance at the beginning of year  55,989,877 19,964,653 

Additions  - - 

Development cost incurred   - 10,205,129 

Closing value at 30 June 2014  55,989,877 30,169,782 

 

 

Year ended 30 June 2015 

   

Balance at the beginning of year  55,989,877 30,169,782 

Additions  - - 

Development cost incurred   - 3,942,589 

Closing value at 30 June 2015  55,989,877 34,112,371 
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NOTE 13: INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

The recoverable amount of the CETO Technology is based on ‘value in use’ as defined under AASB 136: Impairment of 
Assets, which has been estimated to have a greater value than its carrying value of $90 million, accordingly no impairment 
loss has been recognised. 

Value in use was determined by discounting the forecasted future net cash flows generated from the sale of the CETO 
Technology. Cash flows are analysed over a 25 year period approved by management for the years from 2016 to 2040. The 
period is consistent with the long term value of a new infrastructure technology and is consistent with comparable energy 
industry project lives.  

Key assumptions are those to which the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating units is most sensitive.  

The calculation of the value in use is based on the following key assumptions; 

 The Company will earn a profit margin based as a percentage of the manufacturing cost of CETO units sold; 
 Payment for CETO units will be received in advance of commissioning; 
 Forecast sales are based on a specific and static market share of  the world’s wave energy capacity annually to 2040;  
 The Consolidated Group will have access to sufficient funding to complete the CETO Development through to 

commercialisation (See Note 21);and 
 A post-tax discount rate adjusted to incorporate risks associated with commercialising a wave energy technology of 

20.7%. 

 

Sensitivity 

As disclosed in Note 1, the Directors have made judgements and estimates in respect of impairment testing of intangible 

assets. Should these judgements and estimates not occur the resulting intangible assets carrying amount may decrease. 

The sensitivities are as follows:  

(a) Forecast sales of the CETO technology would need to decrease by more than 34% before the intangible assets would 

need to be impaired, with all other assumptions remaining constant.  

(b) The discount rate would be required to increase by more than 5 percentage points (a proportional increase of 24%)  before 

the intangible asset would need to be impaired, with all other assumptions remaining constant. 

 

If there are other negative changes in the other assumptions on which the recoverable amount of intangible assets is based, 

this could result in a further impairment charge for the intangible assets. 
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NOTE 14: OTHER ASSETS 

 Consolidated Group 

 2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

CURRENT   

Deferred expenses 57,807 26,340 

 57,807 26,340 
 

NON CURRENT 

Deferred expenses 153,290 138,555 

 153,290 138,555 

 
 

 

NOTE 15: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 Consolidated Group 

 2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

CURRENT   

Trade creditors 681,816 2,302,860 

Accruals 200,587 1,116,404 

Other 96,894 49,111 

 979,297 3,468,375 
 

NON CURRENT 

Trade creditors 47,252 28,360  

 47,252 28,360 
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NOTE 16: BORROWINGS Consolidated Group 

 

2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

Convertible note* 3,561,081 3,475,130 

 

 Consolidated Group 

Convertible note 2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

Balance at the beginning of the period 3,475,130 - 

Consideration received - 4,000,000 

Equity component - (506,693) 

Conversion to equity during the period (239,663) (43,625) 

Unwinding of finance costs 325,614 194,944 

Issue costs - (169,496) 

  3,561,081 3,475,130 

 
*On 18 November 2013, the Company completed a capital raising of $4 million by issuing 4,000 Convertible Notes at an issue 
price of $1,000 each (“Notes”). The Notes can convert to equity at any time at 4.5 cents per share and pay a non-cash quarterly 
coupon of 6% p.a. Subsequent to the issue of the Notes, on 31 July 2015 the Company announced that it had rolled over the 
remaining 3,690 Notes by extending the maturity date to 17 November 2017. No coupon will be paid on the Notes beyond 17 
November 2015 and all other terms of the Notes remained unchanged. 

 
 

NOTE 17: PROVISIONS  

Analysis of Total Provisions   

 Consolidated Group 

 2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

Current 369,135 1,183,652 

Non-current 229,155 104,978 

 598,290 1,288,630 
 

 

 

  

Annual and  

Long Service 

Leave 

 

Total 

  $ $ 

Consolidated Group    

Opening balance at 1 July 2014  438,630 438,630 

Additional provisions   159,660 159,660 

Unused amounts reversed   - - 

Balance at 30 June 2015  598,290 598,290 

    
  

  
  

Provision for Long-term Employee Benefits 

A provision has been recognised for employee entitlements relating to long service leave (LSL). In calculating the present 

value of future cash flows in respect of LSL, the probability of LSL being taken is based on historical data. The measurement 

and recognition criteria relating to employee benefits have been included in Note 1 of this report.  
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NOTE 18: ISSUED CAPITAL 

 Consolidated Group 

 2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

 1,766,571,657 (2014: 1,720,450,293)   

fully paid ordinary shares 144,940,603 142,656,965 

 144,940,603 142,656,965 

Ordinary shares have no par value. There is no limit to the authorised share capital of the Company. 

 2015 

No. 

2014 

No. 

a. Ordinary shares   

 At the beginning of reporting 

period 

1,720,450,293 1,489,742,595 

 Shares issued during the year   

 — 25 November 2013  35,000,000 

 — 19 February 2014  1,155,133 

 — 18 March 2014  5,000,000 

 — 24 April 2014  187,358,750 

 — 16 May 2014  1,082,704 

 — 26 May 2014  1,111,111 

 — 20 August 2014 1,250,543  

 — 10 November 2014 10,000,000  

 — 10 December 2014 1,123,935  

 — 31 December 2014 10,000,000  

 — 6 February 2015 2,222,223  

 — 12 February 2015 222,223  

 — 23 February 2015 3,537,881  

 — 5 March 2015 3,955,556  

 — 25 March 2015 3,055,556  

 — 4 June 2015 1,031,225  

 — 17 June 2015 9,722,222  

 At reporting date 1,766,571,657 1,720,450,293 
 

(1) On 20 August 2014, 1,250,543 shares were issued to holders of Carnegie convertible notes. The shares were issued 
in lieu of a 6% cash quarterly coupon under the terms of the convertible note announced on 18 November 2013. The 
shares had an effective issue price of $0.048 per share. 
 

(2) On 10 November 2014, 10,000,000 shares were issued to 88 Green Ventures, an entity owned and controlled by Mike 
Fitzpatrick, as a result of the exercise of unlisted options. The shares had an effective issue price of $0.03 per share. 

 

(3) On 10 December 2014, 1,123,935 shares were issued to holders of Carnegie unlisted convertible notes. The shares 
were issued in lieu of a 6% cash quarterly coupon under the terms of the convertible note announced on 18 November 
2013. The shares had an effective issue price of $0.053 per share.  

 

(4) On 31 December 2014, 10,000,000 shares were issued to the Australian Clean Energy Finance Corporation under 
the terms of the debt facility announced on 19 March 2014. The shares had an effective issue price of $0.054 per 
share. 
 

(5) On 6 February 2015, the Company issued 2,222,223 shares to holders of Carnegie unlisted convertible notes. The 
shares were issued as the result of the conversion of 100 of the convertible notes, as per the terms of the convertible 
note announced on 18 November 2013. The shares had an effective issue price of $0.045 per share. 
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NOTE 18: ISSUED CAPITAL (CONT’D) 

 

(6) On 12 February 2015, the Company issued 222,223 shares to holders of Carnegie unlisted convertible notes. The 
shares were issued as the result of the conversion of 10 of the convertible notes, as per the terms of the convertible 
note announced on 18 November 2013. The shares had an effective issue price of $0.045 per share. 

 

(7) On 23 February 2015, the Company issued 2,600,000 shares as a result of the exercise of unlisted employee share 
options. 
 

(8) On 23 February 2015, 937,881 shares were issued to holders of Carnegie unlisted convertible notes. The shares 
were issued in lieu of a 6% cash quarterly coupon under the terms of the convertible note announced on 18 November 
2013. The shares had an effective issue price of $0.063 per share. 
 

(9) On 5 March 2015, the Company issued 3,400,000 shares as a result of the exercise of unlisted employee share 
options. 
 

(10)  On 5 March 2015, the Company issued 555,556 shares to holders of Carnegie unlisted convertible notes. The shares 
were issued as the result of the conversion of 25 of the convertible notes, as per the terms of the convertible note 
announced on 18 November 2013. The shares had an effective issue price of $0.045 per share. 
 

(11) On 25 March 2015, 2,500,000 shares were issued to the Australian Clean Energy Finance Corporation under the 
terms of the debt facility announced on 19 March 2014. The shares had an effective issue price of $0.06 per share. 

 

(12) On 25 March 2015, the Company issued 555,556 shares to holders of Carnegie unlisted convertible notes. The shares 
were issued as the result of the conversion of 25 of the convertible notes, as per the terms of the convertible note 
announced on 18 November 2013. The shares had an effective issue price of $0.045 per share. 

 

(13) On 4 June 2015, 1,031,225 shares were issued to holders of Carnegie unlisted convertible notes. The shares were 
issued in lieu of a 6% cash quarterly coupon under the terms of the convertible note announced on 18 November 2013. 
The shares had an effective issue price of $0.055 per share. 
 

(14) On 17 June 2015, 7,500,000 shares were issued to the Australian Clean Energy Finance Corporation under the terms 
of the debt facility announced on 19 March 2014. The shares had an effective issue price of $0.06 per share. 
 

(15) On 17 June 2015, the Company issued 2,222,222 shares to holders of Carnegie unlisted convertible notes. The shares 
were issued as the result of the conversion of 100 of the convertible notes, as per the terms of the convertible note 
announced on 18 November 2013. The shares had an effective issue price of $0.045 per share. 

 

b. Capital Management 

 Management controls the capital of the group in order to provide the shareholders with adequate returns and ensure 

that the group can fund its operations and continue as a going concern.  

 The group’s capital is made up of ordinary share capital. 

 There are no externally imposed capital requirements.  

 Management effectively manages the group’s capital by assessing the group’s financial risks and adjusting its capital 

structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. This includes the management of share issues. 

There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the group since the prior 

year. 
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NOTE 19: RESERVES 

 Consolidated Group 

  2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

a.  Foreign Currency Translation 

Reserve 

The foreign currency translation 

reserve records exchange differences 

arising on translation of foreign 

controlled subsidiaries and foreign 

currencies 1,680 86,012 

b. Option Reserve 

The option reserve records items 

recognised as expenses on valuation 

of share options and share based 

payments including loan funded 

shares 7,862,134 12,737,413 

 Total 7,863,814 12,823,425 

 

NOTE 20: CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS 

 Consolidated Group 

 2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

(a) Operating and Finance Lease 

Commitments  

  

 Not later than 1 year  197,397 205,485 

 Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 636,779 93,377 

 Later than 5 years - - 

  834,176 298,862 

Operating leasing commitments consist of property leases for three properties including the Company’s head office. They 

are all non-cancellable leases with the longest lease having an expiring term of 3 years, expiring on 30 November 2018. 

Finance lease commitments consist of amounts for plant and equipment. This relates to one lease with an expiry on 30 

April 2018. 
 

 

NOTE 21: BUSINESS RISK 
 

In the financial year ended 30 June 2015 the Group incurred an operating loss of $4.8 million (2014: $4.1 million). As at 30 

June 2015, the Group had an accumulated deficit of $60.6 million. These losses have resulted primarily from costs incurred 

in the CETO Technology development program, and from associated general and administrative costs. The Group expects 

to increase certain operating expenses as it continues to expand infrastructure and commercialization activities.  

As the Group continues to develop its proprietary technologies, it expects to have a net decrease in cash from operating 

activities until it achieves positive cash flow from the planned commercialization of its products. 

The Group cannot say with certainty when it will become profitable because of the significant uncertainties associated with 

successfully commercializing a wave energy technology. If existing resources are insufficient to satisfy the liquidity 

requirements, the Group may seek to sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain credit facilities.  If the Group is 

unable to obtain required financing, it may be required to reduce the scope of its planned product development and 

commercialization efforts, which could adversely affect its financial position and operating results. 
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NOTE 22: OPERATING SEGMENTS 

The Group identifies its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of 

Directors (chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources. 

The Group operates primarily in development of the CETO technology. The financial information presented in the statement 

of comprehensive income and statement of financial position is the same as that presented to chief operating decision 

maker. Therefore the group is considered to be a single operating segment. 

Unless stated otherwise, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors as the chief decision maker is in accordance with 

accounting policies that are consistent to those adopted in the annual financial statements of the Group. 
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NOTE 23: CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

 Consolidated Group 

 2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

 Reconciliation of Cash Flow from 

Operations with Loss after Income Tax 

  

 Loss after income tax (4,784,050) (4,176,921) 

 Non-cash flows in profit   

  Depreciation 109,015 71,205 

  Net loss on disposal of investments - - 

  Net loss on disposal of assets 718 - 

  Net loss on foreign exchange (91,685) 2,207 

  Loss in share of associate - - 

  Provision for impairment - - 

  Write-off of assets - - 

   Share options & loan funded shares 

expensed  

771,450 2,082,121 

  Finance costs 1,241,829 336,009 

  Doubtful Debts 486 472 

 Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the 

effects of purchase and disposal of 

subsidiaries 

   

  Government grants received 4,312,663 14,034,254 

  R&D tax rebate received 3,963,327 2,263,825 

  (Increase)/decrease in trade and 

term receivables (634,168) (512,639) 

  (Increase)/decrease in non-current 

assets (74,878) (201,290) 

  (Increase)/decrease in development 

asset (4,786,955) (3,383,216) 

  Increase/(decrease) in trade 

payables and accruals 921,136 211,035 

  Increase/(decrease) in provisions 160,054 161,109 

  Cashflow used in operations 1,108,942 10,888,171 

 
 

 

NOTE 24: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 
a) On 3 August 2015, the Consolidated Group announced the award of a £2 million grant from the Scottish Government’s 

Wave Energy Scotland (WES) for the development of a universal Power Take Off system to convert mechanical energy 
to electricity. 

b) On 31 July 2015, the Consolidated Group announced that it had received a gold mining royalty payment of $377,412 for 
the quarter ended 30 June 2014. 

c) On 28 July 2015, the Consolidated Group announced that it will partner with the University of Western Australia (UWA) 
on a $460,000 project part funded by an Australian Research Council (ARC) Linkage Grant to research and develop 
more efficient anchoring systems for wave energy converters. 

d) On 10 July 2015, the Consolidated Group announced that it had issued 26,600,000 options under the employee incentive 
option scheme. 
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NOTE 25: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

(a)     Transactions with Director related entities 

 

 Company secretarial services have been provided by Mooney & Partners Pty Ltd, a company associated with 
Grant Mooney during the financial year. These amounts have been included in the disclosures at Note 5. 
These transactions were undertaken under normal commercial terms. 

   

NOTE 26: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

(a) Financial Risk Management Policies 

 The Board of Directors has responsibility for, amongst other issues, monitoring and managing financial risk 

exposures of the Consolidated Group.  The Board monitors the Group’s financial risk management policies and 

exposures and approves financial transactions within the scope of its authority. It also reviews the effectiveness of 

internal controls relating to commodity price risk, counter party credit risk, currency risk, financing risk and interest 

rate risk. 

 Interest rate risk 

 The Consolidated Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will 

fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. The effective weighted average interest rates in classes 

of financial assets and liabilities is as follows: 

Consolidated Group 

Weighted 

Average 

Effective 

Interest Rate 

% 

 

Floating 

Interest Rate 

 

$ 

Fixed Interest Rate 

Maturing 

 

Non-interest 

Bearing 

 

$ 

 

Total 

 

$ 

 

Within year 

$ 

 

1 to 5 years 

$ 

30 June 2015:       

Financial assets:                 

Cash and cash 

equivalents 

1.75 2,593,464 2,110,000 - 21,330 4,724,795 

Receivables 2.74 - 604,275 - 1,376,750 1,972,026 

Other financial assets - - - - 12,414 12,414 

  2,593,464 2,714,275 - 1,401,495 6,709,235 

Financial liabilities:       

Accounts payable  - - - 1,026,549 1,026,549 

  - - - 1,026,549 1,026,549 

30 June 2014:      

Financial assets:       

Cash and cash 

equivalents 

2.78 6,228,032 7,060,000           - 889,479 14,177,511 

Receivables 3.39 - 676,039 - 516,480 1,192,519 

Other financial assets - - - - 12,414 12,414 

  6,228,032 7,736,039 - 1,418,373 15,382,444 

Financial liabilities:       

Accounts payable - - - - 4,346,736 4,346,736 

  - - - 4,346,736 4,346,736 
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Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value 

The financial instruments recognised at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position have been analysed 

and classified using a fair value hierarchy reflecting the significance of the inputs used in making the 

measurements. The fair value hierarchy consists of the following levels: 

— quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1); 

— inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (Level 2); and  

— inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 

(Level 3). 

Consolidated Group 
 

2015 Level 1 

$ 

Level 2 

$ 

Level 3 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Financial assets:     

Available-for-sale financial assets:     

— listed investments - - - - 

— unlisted investments - - 12,414 12,414 

 - - 12,414 12,414 

2014     

Financial assets:     

Available-for-sale financial assets:     

— listed investments - - - - 

— unlisted investments - - 12,414 12,414 

 - - 12,414 12,414 

 

 

     

 

     
 

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 26: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

 

(b) Credit Risk 

 The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to 

 recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts, as disclosed in the 

 Statement of Financial Position and notes to the Statement of Financial Position. 

 The Consolidated Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors 

under financial instruments entered into by the Consolidated Group. Details with respect to credit risk of trade 

and other receivables are provided in note 9. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counter parties 

are banks with high credit ratings. 
 

(c) Net fair value 

The net fair value and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in the Statement 

of Financial Position and in the notes to the Statement of Financial Position.  

For unlisted investments where there is no organised financial market the net fair value has been based on a 

reasonable estimation of the underlying net assets or discounted cash flows of the investment, where this 

could not be done, they have been carried at cost. No financial assets or financial liabilities are readily traded 

on organised markets in standardised form other than investments. 
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NOTE 26: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

 

 

 

   Consolidated Group 

   2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

  Change in profit   

  — Increase in interest rate by 1% 79,936 104,929 

  — Decrease in interest rate by 1% (79,936) (104,929) 

  Change in Equity    

  — Increase in interest rate by 1% 79,936 104,929 

  — Decrease in interest rate by 1% (79,936) (104,929) 

     
 
(e)           Liquidity Risk 

 Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or 

otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The Group manages this risk through the 

following mechanisms: 

 • preparing forward looking cash flow analysis in relation to its operational, investing and financing activities 

 • using derivatives that are only traded in highly liquid markets 

 • monitoring undrawn credit facilities 

 • obtaining funding from a variety of sources 

 • maintaining a reputable credit profile 

 • managing credit risk related to financial assets 

 • investing only in surplus cash with major financial institutions 

 • comparing the maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation profile of financial assets 

 

 

Trade and sundry payables are expected to be paid as followed: 

 Consolidated Group 

Contractual Cash flows 2015 2014 

 $ $ 

Less than 30 days 979,297 4,318,376 

More than 1 year 47,252 28,360 

 1,026,549 4,346,736 

 
  

(d)          Sensitivity Analysis      

Interest Rate Risk  

The group has performed sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk, at balance date.  

This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current year results and equity which could result 

from a change in these risks. 

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis 

At 30 June 2015, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate, with all other 

variables remaining constant would be as follows: 
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NOTE 27: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 

(a) Types of share based payment plans 

Employee share option plan 

Share options are granted to executives and staff at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Share options are 

only granted to Director’s after approval by shareholders. The plan is designed to align participants’ interests with 

those of shareholders by increasing value of the Company’s shares. Under the plan, the exercise price of the 

options is set by the Board of Directors at the time of issue. 

Management Incentive Equity Plan 

Following shareholder approval, shares are issued at market value to the Managing Director and are funded by a 

limited recourse loan. The share issue is not recognized as issued capital and is treated as a share option issue 

in accordance with accounting standards. The plan is designed to align participants’ interests with those of 

shareholders by increasing value of the Company’s shares. 

Consultant share options 

Share options are granted to consultants at the discretion of the Board of Directors for services provided to the 

Consolidated Group. The exercise price of the options is set by the Board of Directors at the time of issue. 

Consultant & financier shares 

Shares are granted to consultants and financiers at the discretion of the Board of Directors for services provided 

to the Consolidated Group. 

Employee Share Option Plan 

The following employee share option plan payments were made during the financial year ended 30 June 2015: 

 

 On 4 July 2014, 50,250,000 employee options were issued via the employee incentive option scheme to 

employees with half to vest on 4 July 2015 and the balance to vest on 4 July 2016. The options are not issued 

based on performance criteria, but are issued to increase goal congruence between executives and 

shareholders. The options have an exercise price of $0.073. 

 

Consultant & financier shares 

The following consultant & financier shares were issued during the financial year ended 30 June 2015: 

 On 20 August 2014, 1,250,543 consultant & financier shares were issued to holders of Carnegie convertible 

notes. The shares were issued in lieu of a 6% cash quarterly coupon under the terms of the convertible note 

announced on 18 November 2013. The shares had an affective issue price of $0.048 per share. 

 On 10 December 2014, 1,123,935 consultant & financier shares were issued to holders of Carnegie 

convertible notes. The shares were issued in lieu of a 6% cash quarterly coupon under the terms of the 

convertible note announced on 18 November 2013. The shares had an affective issue price of $0.053 per 

share. 

 On 31 December 2014, 10,000,000 consultant & financier shares were issued to the Clean Energy Finance 

Corporation under the terms of the debt facility announced on 19 March 2014. The shares had an effective 

issue price of $0.054 per share. 

 On 23 February 2015, 937,881 consultant & financier shares were issued to holders of Carnegie convertible 

notes. The shares were issued in lieu of a 6% cash quarterly coupon under the terms of the convertible note 

announced on 18 November 2013. The shares had an affective issue price of $0.063 per share. 

 On 25 March 2015, 2,500,000 consultant & financier shares were issued to the Clean Energy Finance 

Corporation under the terms of the debt facility announced on 19 March 2014. The shares had an effective 

issue price of $0.06 per share. 

 On 4 June 2015, 1,031,225 consultant & financier shares were issued to holders of Carnegie convertible 

notes. The shares were issued in lieu of a 6% cash quarterly coupon under the terms of the convertible note 

announced on 18 November 2013. The shares had an affective issue price of $0.055 per share. 

 On 17 June 2015, 7,500,000 consultant & financier shares were issued to the Clean Energy Finance 

Corporation under the terms of the debt facility announced on 19 March 2014. The shares had an effective 

issue price of $0.06 per share. 
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NOTE 27: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONT) 

(i) Total options outstanding and exercisable are as follows:  

 Consolidated Group 

 

Number of options Weighted Average Exercise Price  

$ 

Outstanding options at 1 July 2014 115,350,000 0.0597 

Granted 50,250,000 0.0730 

Exercised (16,000,000) 0.0375 

Expired (15,000,000) 0.0896 

Outstanding at 30 June 2015 134,600,000 0.0640 

Exercisable at 30 June 2015 81,925,000 0.0586 

     

 

16,000,000 options were exercised during the year ended 30 June 2015.  

 

The options outstanding at 30 June 2015 had a weighted average exercise price of $0.0586 and a weighted average 

remaining contractual life of 1.91 years. Exercise prices range from $0.05 to $0.073 in respect to options outstanding 

at 30 June 2015. 

 

The price of the share options issued during the year was calculated by using Black Scholes option pricing model 

applying the following inputs: 

 Employee  

Options 

Director     

Options 

Loan Funded 

Shares 

Weighted averaged exercise price $ 0.073   0.065 0.045 

Weighted averaged life of option 3 years 5 years 5 years 

Underlying share price $ 0.051 0.045 0.045 

Expected share prices volatility 68% 64% 64% 

Risk free rate 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 
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NOTE 29: COMPANY DETAILS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

NOTE 28: PARENT INFORMATION 

 2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

The following information has been extracted from the books and records of the 

parent and has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 

Standards. 

  

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION   

ASSETS   

Current assets 6,386,387 15,014,390 

Non-current assets 91,856,435  87,999,114 

TOTAL ASSETS 98,242,822 103,013,504 

   

LIABILITIES   

Current liabilities 8,938,789 12,088,533 

Non-current liabilities 3,837,488 3,762,530 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 12,776,277 15,851,063 

   

EQUITY   

Issued capital 144,940,603 142,656,965 

Reserves 7,862,132 12,822,449 

Accumulated losses (67,336,191) (68,316,973) 

TOTAL EQUITY 85,466,545 87,162,441 

   

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   

Total profit (4,589,069) (3,928,054) 

Total comprehensive income (4,589,069 (3,928,054) 

Guarantees 

The Company has not entered into any guarantees, in the current or previous financial year, in relation to the debts of its 
subsidiaries. 

 

Contractual commitments 

At 30 June 2015, the Company had not entered into any contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant 
and equipment (2014: Nil). 
 

 

 

The registered office and Principal place of business of the Company is: 

 Carnegie Wave Energy Limited 

 Suite 1 

124 Stirling Highway 

NORTH FREMANTLE  WA  6159 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

The Directors of the Company declare that: 

1. the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 14 to 49, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 

and: 

 a. comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001;  

 b. give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of the performance for the year 

ended on that date of the Consolidated Group; 

2. the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as set out in Note 1; 

3. the remuneration disclosures that are contained in the Remuneration Report in the Directors Report comply with the 

Corporations Act 2001 and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

4. the Managing Director and Chief Finance Officer have each declared that: 

 a. the financial records of the company for the financial year have been properly maintained in accordance with 

section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001; 

 b. the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting Standards; and 

 c. the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view; 

5. In the Director’s opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as 

and when they become due and payable. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

           

 

Dr Michael E Ottaviano      Grant J Mooney 

Managing Director      Director 

 

Dated this 28th day of August 2015 

 

 



 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CARNEGIE WAVE ENERGY LTD 
AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
 
Report on the Financial Report 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Carnegie Wave Energy Ltd., which comprises 
the consolidated statement of financial position for the year ended 30 June 2015, the consolidated 
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for year ended 30 June 2015, notes comprising 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ 
declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the 
year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report  
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1, the 
directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.  
 
Independence  
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 
 
Opinion  
In our opinion:  
 
(a) the financial report of Carnegie Wave Energy Ltd. is in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, including:  
 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 
2015 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and  

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 
2001; and  



 
 
(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed 

in Note 1. 
 

Report on the Remuneration Report 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 9 to 11 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 30 June 2015. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
 
Auditor’s Opinion  
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Carnegie Wave Energy Ltd. for the year ended 30 June 
2015 complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 

 
CROWE HORWATH PERTH 

 
SEAN MCGURK 
Partner 
 
Signed at Perth, 28 August 2015  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Crowe Horwath Perth is a member of Crowe Horwath International, a Swiss verein. Each member firm of Crowe Horwath is a separate and 
independent legal entity. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation other than for the acts or omissions of 
financial services licensees. 
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